USAGE REVIEW

AGREEMENT

Number: Number is the form a word takes to indicate whether the word is singular or plural. 

EXAMPLE: 
Singular:
car
she
one
child

class



Plural

cars
they
many
children
classes

Subject/Verb: A verb should agree in number with its subject. Singular subjects take singular verbs.

EXAMPLE: 
The lightning fills the sky. [The singular verb fills agrees with the singular subject lightning.]


Plural subjects take plural verbs. 

EXAMPLE: 
Cheetahs run fast. [The plural verb “run” agrees with the plural subject “Cheetahs”.]

*When a sentence contains a verb phrase, the first helping verb in the verb phrases agrees with the subject. 

EXAMPLE: 
The motor is running. 



The motors are running. 

*The number of a subject is not changed by a phrase following the subject. 

EXAMPLE:
The hero of those folk tales is Coyote. [The verb is agrees with the subject hero, not with tales.]

*If the subject is the indefinite pronoun all, any, more, most, none, or some, its number may be determined by the object of a prepositional phrase that follows it. 

EXAMPLE: 
Most of the essays were graded.



Most of this essay is illegible. 

Indefinite Pronouns: A pronoun that does not refer to a definite person, place, thing, or idea is called and indefinite pronoun. 

The following indefinite pronouns are singular: anybody, anyone, anything, each, either, everybody, everyone, everything, neither, nobody, no one, nothing, one, somebody, and something. 

EXAMPLE:
Each of the newcomers was welcomed to the city. 

The following indefinite pronouns are plural: both, few, many, several.

EXAMPLE: 
Few of our neighbors have parakeets. 

The indefinite pronouns all, any, more, most, none, and some may be either singular or plural, depending on their meaning in the sentence. Their number is often determined by the object in a prepositional phrase following the subject. These pronouns are singular when they refer to a singular word and are plural when they refer to a plural word. 

EXAMPLE:
All of the fruit is ripe. 



All of the pears are ripe. 

Compound Subjects: subjects joined by and usually take a plural verb. 

EXAMPLE: 
Our dog and cat get baths in the summer. 

*A compound subject that names only one person or thing takes a singular verb. 

EXAMPLE: 
Macaroni and cheese is my favorite past dish. 

*Singular subjects joined by or or nor take a singular verb. 

EXAMPLE: 
Neither a rabbit nor a mole does that kind of damage. 

Plural subjects joined by or or nor take a plural verb. 

Either mice or squirrels are living in our attic. 

*When a singular subject and a plural subject are joined by or or nor, the verb agrees with the subject nearer the verb. 

EXAMPLE: 
A book or flowers usually make an appropriate gift. [The verb “make” agrees with the closer subject “flowers”]

*A collective noun may be either singular or plural, depending on its meaning in a sentence. A collective noun takes a singular verb when the noun refers to the group as a unit. A collective noun take s a plural verb when the noun refers to the individual parts or members of the group. 

Common collective nouns: audience, crew, family, flock, class
EXAMPLE: 
The class has decided to have a science fair in November. [The class as one unit has decided]



The class were divided in their opinions of the play. [The members of the class were divided in their opinions.]

*When the subject follows the verb, find the subject and make sure that the verb agrees with it. The subject usually follows the verb in questions and in sentences beginning with here or there. 

EXAMPLE: 
Where was the cat?



Where were the cats?

*When the subject of a sentence follows part or all of the verb, the word order is said to be inverted. To find the subject of a sentence with inverted order, restate the sentence in normal subject-verb word order. 

INVERTED: 
Here are your gloves. 

NORMAL:
Your gloves are here. 

*The contractions here’s, there’s, and where’s contain the verb is and should be used only with singular subjects. 

INCORRECT: There’s our new neighbors. [The subject “neighbors” is plural, but the verb “is” is singular.]

CORRECT:
There are our new neighbors. 

*Some nouns that are plural in form take singular verbs. 

EXAMPLE: 
Electronics is a branch of physics. 

*An expression of an amount (a measurement, a percentage, or a fraction, for example) may be singular or plural, depending on how it is used. A word or phrase stating an amount is singular when the amount is thought of as a unit. 

EXAMPLE: 
Fifteen dollars is enough for that CD. 

*Sometimes, however, the amount is thought of as individual pieces or parts. If so, a plural verb is used. 

Ten of the dollars were borrowed. 

*A fraction of a percentage is singular when it refers to a singular word and plural when it refers to a plural word. 

EXAMPLE: 
One fourth of the salad is gone. 



Forty percent of the students are new. 

*Even when plural in form, the title of a creative work (book, song, film, etc.), the name of an organization, or the name of a country or city generally takes a singular verb. 

EXAMPLE: 
World Tales is a collection of folk tales retold by Idries Shah. 

Don’t and doesn’t should agree in number with their subjects. The word don’t is a contraction of do not. Use don’t with plural subjects and with the pronouns I and you. 

EXAMPLE: 
The children don’t seem nervous. 



I don’t understand. 

*The word doesn’t is a contraction of does not. Use doesn’t with singular subjects except the pronouns I and you. 

EXAMPLE: 
Kim doesn’t ride the bus. 



He doesn’t play tennis. 

Pronoun/Antecedent Agreement: a pronoun usually refers to a noun or another pronoun called its antecedent. Whenever you use a pronoun, make sure that it agrees with its antecedent in number and in gender. 

*Some singular pronouns have forms that indicate gender, while others refer to things or animals and do not indicate gender. 

MALE:
he
him
his
himself

FEMALE:
she 
her
hers
herself

NEUTRAL
it
it
its
itself

EXAMPLE OF AGREEMENT:
Carlotta said she found her book. 

*Some antecedents may be either male or female. In such cases, use both the male and the female forms. 

EXAMPLE:
Every one of the parents praised his or her child’s efforts that day. 

*Use a singular noun to refer to anybody, anyone, anything, each, either, everybody, everyone, everything, neither, nobody, no one, nothing, one, somebody, someone, or something. 

EXAMPLE:
Each of the snakes escaped from its cage. 

*Use a plural pronoun to refer to both, few, many, or several. 

EXAMPLE: 
Both of the sailors asked their captain for shore leave. 

*The indefinite pronouns all, any, more, most, none, and some may be singular or plural, depending on how they are used in a sentence. 

EXAMPLE:
All of the book is interesting, isn’t it?



All of the books are interesting, aren’t they?

*Use a singular pronoun to refer to two or more singular antecedents joined by or or nor. 

EXAMPLE:
Either Ralph or Carlos will display his baseball cards. 

*Use a plural noun to refer to two or more antecedents joined by and. 

EXAMPLE: Isaac and Jerome told me that they were coming. 

*A pronoun that refers to a collective noun has the same number as the noun. 

EXAMPLE: 
The cast is giving its final performance tonight. [The cast as a unit is giving its final performance.]



The cast are trying on their costumes. [The individual members of the cast are on their individual costumes.]

*An expression of an amount may take a singular or plural pronoun, depending on how the expression is used. 

EXAMPLE: 
Five dollars is all I need; I hope my sister will lend it to me. 



Two dollars are torn. The vending machine won’t take them. 

*Even when plural in form, the title of a creative work (such as a book, song, film, or painting), the name of an organization, or the name of a country or city usually takes a singular pronoun. 

EXAMPLE: 
Have you read Great Expectations? It is on our summer reading list. 



The United Nations, which has its headquarters in New York, also has offices in Geneva and Vienna. 

USING VERBS CORRECTLY

PRINCIPAL PARTS OF VERBS: The four basic parts of verbs are called the principal parts of the verb. The principal parts are the base form, the present participle, the past, and the past participle. When they are used to form tenses, the present participle and the past participle forms require helping verbs (forms of be and have). 

	Base Form
	Present Participle
	Past
	Past Participle

	Talk
	Is talking
	Talked
	Have talked

	Draw
	Is drawing
	Drew
	Have drawn


*Because talk forms its past and past participle by adding –ed, it is called a regular verb. Draw forms its past and past participle differently, so it is called an irregular verb. 

*The principal parts of a verb are used to express time. 

PRESENT TIME:
He draws excellent pictures. 




Susan is drawing one now. 

PAST TIME:

Last week they drew two maps. 




She has often drawn cartoons. 

FUTURE TIME:
Perhaps she will draw one for you. 




By Thursday, we will have drawn two more. 

REGULAR VERBS: A regular verb forms its past and past participle by adding –d or—ed to the base form. 

	Base Form
	Present Participle
	Past
	Past Participle

	Clean
	Is cleaning
	Cleaned
	Have cleaned


IRREGULAR VERBS: An irregular verb forms its past and past participle in some new way other than by adding –d or –ed to the base form. 

Common Irregular Verbs

	Base Form
	Present Participle
	Past
	Past Participle

	Begin
	Is beginning
	Began
	Have begun

	Bite
	Is biting
	Bit
	Have bitten (or bit)

	Blow
	Is blowing
	Blew
	Have blown

	Break
	Is breaking
	Broke
	Have broken

	Bring
	Is bringing
	Brought
	Have brought

	Build
	Is building
	Built
	Have built

	Burst
	Is bursting
	Burst
	Have burst

	Buy
	Is buying
	Bought
	Have bought

	Catch
	Is catching
	Caught
	Have caught

	Choose
	Is choosing
	Chose
	Have chosen

	Come
	Is coming
	Came
	Have come

	Cost
	Is costing
	Cost
	Have cost

	Cut
	Is cutting
	Cut
	Have cut

	Do
	Is doing
	Did
	Have done

	Draw 
	Is drawing
	Drew
	Have drawn

	Drink
	Is drinking
	Drank
	Have drunk

	Drive
	Is driving
	Drove
	Have driven

	Eat
	Is eating
	Ate
	Have eaten

	Fall
	Is falling
	Fell 
	Have fallen

	Feel
	Is feeling
	Felt
	Have felt

	Fight
	Is fighting
	Fought
	Have fought

	Find
	Is finding
	Found
	Have found

	Fly
	Is flying
	Flew
	Have flown

	Forgive 
	Is forgiving
	Forgave
	Have forgiven

	Freeze
	Is freezing
	Froze
	Have frozen

	Get
	Is getting
	Got 
	Have got (or gotten)

	Give
	Is giving
	Gave
	Have given

	Go
	Is going
	Went
	Have gone

	Grow
	Is growing
	Grew
	Have grown

	Have
	Is having
	Had
	Have had

	Hear
	Is hearing
	Heard
	Have heard

	Hide
	Is hiding
	Hid
	Have hid (or hidden)

	Hit
	Is hitting
	Hit
	Have hit

	Hold
	Is holding
	Held
	Have held

	Know
	Is knowing
	Knew
	Have known

	Lead
	Is leading
	Led
	Have led

	Leave
	Is leaving
	Left
	Have left

	Lend
	Is lending
	Lent
	Have lent

	Let
	Is letting
	Let
	Have let

	Light
	Is lighting
	Lighted (or lit)
	Have lighted (or lit)

	Lose
	Is losing
	Lost
	Have lost

	Make
	Is making
	Made
	Have made

	Meet
	Is meeting
	Met
	Have met

	Pay
	Is paying
	Paid
	Have paid

	Put
	Is putting
	Put
	Have put

	Read
	Is reading
	Read
	Have read

	Ride
	Is riding
	Rode
	Have ridden

	Ring
	Is ringing
	Rang
	Have rung

	Run
	Is running
	Ran
	Have run

	Say
	Is saying
	Said
	Have said

	See
	Is seeing
	Saw
	Have seen

	Seek
	Is seeking
	Sought
	Have sought

	Sell
	Is selling
	Sold
	Have sold

	Send 
	Is sending
	Sent
	Have sent

	Shrink
	Is shrinking
	Shrank (or shrunk)
	Have shrunk

	Sing
	Is singing
	Sang
	Have sung

	Sink
	Is sinking
	Sank (or sunk)
	Have sunk

	Speak 
	Is speaking
	Spoke
	Have spoken

	Spend
	Is spending
	Spent
	Have spent

	Stand
	Is standing
	Stood
	Have stood

	Steal
	Is stealing
	Stole
	Have stolen

	Swim
	Is swimming
	Swam
	Have swum

	Swing
	Is swinging
	Swung
	Have swung

	Take
	Is taking
	Took
	Have taken

	Teach
	Is teaching
	Taught
	Have taught

	Tear
	Is tearing
	Tore
	Have torn

	Tell
	Is telling
	Told
	Have told

	Think
	Is thinking
	Thought
	Have thought

	Throw
	Is throwing
	Threw
	Have thrown

	Wear
	Is wearing
	Wore
	Have worn

	Win
	Is winning
	Won
	Have won

	Write
	Is writing
	Wrote
	Have written


TENSE: The tense of a verb indicates the time of the action or of the state of being that is expressed by the verb. English verbs have six tenses: present, present perfect, past, past perfect, future, future perfect. The following timeline shows the relationship between the six tenses. 

Past perfect:


Present Perfect: existing

Future Perfect:

Existing or happening 
or happening sometime

existing or 

Before a specific time

before now; may be 


happening before a

In the past


continuing now


specific time in the











future
















Past: existing 


Present: existing

Future: 


or happening


or happening now

existing or



In the past






happening










in the future

*Each tense has an additional form called the progressive form, which expresses continuing action or state of being. In each tense, the progressive form of a verb consists of the appropriate tense of be plus the verb’s present participle. 


Present progressive: 
am, is, are seeing


Past progressive:
was, were seeing


Future progressive:
will (shall) be seeing


Present perfect progressive:
has been seeing, have been seeing


Past perfect progressive:
had been seeing


Future perfect progressive: 
will (shall) have been seeing

Consistency of Tense: Do not change needlessly from one tense to another. When writing about events that take place at the same time, use verbs that are in the same tense. When writing about events that occur at different times, use verbs that are in different tenses. 

INCONSISTENT:
When we go to the movies, we bought some popcorn. 

CONSISTENT:
When we go to the movies, we buy some popcorn. 

ACTIVE AND PASSIVE VOICE: A verb in the active voice expresses an action done by its subject. A verb in the passive voice expresses an action done to its subject. In passive voice, the verb phrase always includes a form of be and the past participle of the main verb. Other helping verbs may also be included. Compare the following sentences:

ACTIVE:
The pilot instructed us. [The subject ,pilot, performs the action.]

PASSIVE: 
We were instructed by the pilot. [The subject, We, receives the action.]

ACTIVE: 
Alice caught a fly ball. [The subject ,Alice, performs the action.]

PASSIVE:
A fly ball was caught by Alice. [The subject, ball, receives the action.]

TROUBLESOME VERBS


Sit versus Set: The verb sit means “to be seated” or “to rest.” Sit seldom takes an object. The verb set usually means “to place (something somewhere)” or “to put (something somewhere).” Set usually takes an object. Notice that set has the same for form the base form, past, and past participle. 

	Base Form
	Present Participle
	Past
	Past Participle

	Sit
	Is sitting
	Sat
	Have sat

	Set
	Is setting
	Set
	Have set


EXAMPLES:
Who is sitting on the blanket? [no object]



Theresa is setting the lawn chairs by the pool. [Chairs is the object.]

Rise versus Raise: The verb rise means “to move upward” or “to go up.” Rise does not take an object. The verb raise means “to lift (something) up.” Raise usually takes an object. 

	Base Form
	Present Participle
	Past
	Past Participle

	Rise
	Is rising
	Rose
	Have risen

	Raise
	Is raising
	Raised
	Have raised


EXAMPLES:

The fans were rising to sing the national anthem. [no object]




Fans were raising signs. [Signs is the object.]

Lie versus Lay: The verb lie generally means “to recline,” “to be in a place,” or “to remain lying down.” Lie does not take an object. The verb lay generally means “to put (something) down” or “to place (something somewhere).” Lay usually takes an object.

	Base Form
	Present Participle
	Past
	Past Participle

	Lie
	Is lying
	Lay
	Have lain

	Lay
	Is laying
	Laid
	Have laid


EXAMPLES: 

The silverware is lying on the table. [No object]

The waiter is laying silverware beside each plate. [Silverware is 

the object.]

USING PRONOUNS CORRECTLY: 

CASE: is the form that a noun or pronoun takes to show its relationship to other words in a sentence. English has three cases for nouns and pronouns: nominative, objective, and possessive. The form of a noun is the same for both the nominative and the objective cases. For example, a noun used as a subject (nominative case) will have the same form when used as a direct object (objective case). 


NOMINATIVE: 
That Ming vase is very old. [subject]


OBJECTIVE:

Who bought the vase? [direct object]

*A noun changes its form only in the possessive case, usually by adding an apostrophe and an s. 


POSSESSIVE:
The Ming vase’s new owner is pleased. 

*Unlike nouns, most personal pronouns have different forms for all three cases. 

	Nominative Case
	Objective Case
	Possessive Case

	I
	Me
	My, mine

	You
	You
	Your, yours

	He, she, it
	Him, her, it
	His, her, hers, its

	We
	Us
	Our, ours

	You
	You
	Your, yours

	They
	Them
	Their, theirs


*The possessive pronouns mine, yours, his, hers, its, ours, and theirs are used as parts of sentences in the same ways in which the pronouns in the nominative and the objective cases are used. 

EXAMPLES: 

His book and mine are overdue. 




This desk is his. 

*The possessive pronouns my your, his, her, its, our, and there are used as adjectives before nouns. 

EXAMPLES:

My shoes need to be cleaned. 




Have you proofread her report yet?

THE NOMINATIVE CASE: The subject of a verb should be in the nominative case. 

EXAMPLE: 

He and I mowed the laws. 

*A predicate nominative should be in the nominative case. (See predicate nominatives in the grammar review section of this packet.)

EXAMPLES:

The candidates should have been he and she. [He and she follow the linking verb should have been and identify the subject candidates.]



The members of the team are they. [They follows the linking verb are and identifies the subject members.]

THE OBJECTIVE CASE: Direct objects and indirect objects of verbs should be in the objective case. 

EXAMPLES: 

Mom called me to the phone. [Me is the direct object of called.]

The hostess handed her a nametag. [Her is the indirect object of 

the verb handed.]

*The object of a preposition should be in the objective case. 

EXAMPLES:

Before us lay rows of green cornstalks. [Us is the object of the preposition Before.]

The secret is between him and me. [Him and me are the compound object of the preposition between.]

SPECIAL PRONOUN PROBLEMS

Who versus Whom: The pronoun who has different forms in the nominative and objective cases. Who is the nominative form; whom is the objective form. When you need to decide whether to use who or whom in a question, follow these steps:

1. Rephrase the question as a statement. 

2. Decide how the pronoun is used in the statement—as a subject, a predicate nominative, a direct or an indirect object, or an object of a preposition. 

3. Determine the case of the pronoun according to the rules of formal, standard English. 

4. Select the correct form of the pronoun. 

EXAMPLE: 
(Who/Whom) is she?

1. The statement would be She is (who/whom). 

2. The pronoun is a predicate nominative that refers to the subject She. 

3. A pronoun used as a predicate nominative should be in the nominative case. 

4. The nominative form is who. 

Answer: Who is she?

PRONOUNS WITH APPOSITIVES: Sometimes a pronoun is followed directly by a noun that identifies the pronoun. Such a noun is called an appositive. To help you choose which pronoun to use before an appositive, omit the appositive and try each form of the pronoun separately. 

EXAMPLE:

On Saturdays, (we/us) cyclists ride to Mount McCabe and back. 




We ride or Us ride?
Answer: We ride

CLEAR REFERENCE: A pronoun should refer clearly to its antecedent, the word or word group the pronoun stands for. If a pronoun could refer to more than one antecedent, revise the sentence to make the meaning clear. 

UNCLEAR: Jeremy promised to meet Sean in front of his house. [To whom does his refer? Are Jeremy and Sean meeting in front of Jeremy’s house or in front of Sean’s house?]

CLEAR:
Jeremy promised to meet Sean in front of Sean’s house.

USING MODIFIERS CORRECTLY: A modifier is a word, a phrase, or a clause that makes the meaning of a word or word group more specific. The two kinds of modifiers are adjectives and adverbs. 

ONE-WORD MODIFIERS

ADJECTIVES make the meanings of nouns and pronouns more specific. 

EXAMPLE:
Andy gave a loud cheer. [The adjective loud tells what kind of cheer.]

ADVERBS make the meanings of verbs, adjectives, and other adverbs more specific. 

EXAMPLE: 
Andy cheered loudly. [The adverb loudly makes the meaning of the verb cheered more specific.]

PHRASES USED AS MODIFIERS: Like one-word modifiers, phrases can also be used as adjectives and adverbs. 

EXAMPLES:
Leaping from the step, the toddler flapped his arms in the air. [The participial phrase Leaping from the step acts as an adjective that modifies the noun toddler.]



Ms. Elizondo planted rosebushes along the fence. [The prepositional phrase along the fence acts as an adverb that modifies the verb planted.]

CLAUSES USED AS MODIFIERS: Like words and phrases, clause can also be used as modifiers. 

EXAMPLE:
Italian is the language that I like best. [The adjective clause that I like best modifies the noun language.]

COMPARISON OF ADJECTIVES AND ADVERBS: When adjectives and adverbs are used in comparisons, they take different forms. The specific form they take depends upon how many things are being compared. The different forms of comparison are called degrees of comparison. The three degrees of comparison of modifiers are the positive, the comparative, and the superlative. The positive degree is used when at least one thing is being described. 

EXAMPLE:
This suitcase is heavy. 



Luis cheerfully began the job. 

*The comparative degree is used when two things or groups of things are being compared. 

EXAMPLE:
My suitcase is heavier than yours. 



Luis talked more cheerfully than Albert. 

*The superlative degree is used when three or more things or groups of things are being compared. 

EXAMPLE:
Sylvia’s suitcase is the heaviest of all. 



Of the four boys, Luis worked at the task most cheerfully. 

REGULAR COMPARISON: Most one-syllable modifiers form the comparative degree by adding –er and the superlative degree by adding –est. 

	Positive
	Comparative
	Superlative

	Close
	Closer
	Closest

	Slow
	Slower
	slowest


*Two-syllable modifiers form the comparative degree by adding –er or by using more. They form the superlative degree by adding –est or by using most. 

	Positive
	Comparative
	Superlative

	Simple
	Simpler
	Simplest

	Jealous
	More jealous
	Most jealous


*Modifiers that have three or more syllables form the comparative degree by using more and the superlative degree by using most. 

	Positive
	Comparative
	Superlative

	Powerful
	More powerful
	Most powerful

	Joyfully
	More joyfully
	Most joyfully


DECREASING COMPARISON: To show decreasing comparison, modifiers form the comparative degree by using less and the superlative degree by using least. 

	Positive
	Comparative
	Superlative

	Sharp
	Less sharp
	Least sharp

	Frequently
	Less frequently
	Least frequently


IRREGULAR COMPARISON: The comparative and superlative degrees of some modifiers are irregular in form. 

	Positive
	Comparative
	Superlative

	Bad
	Worse
	Worst

	Far
	Farther or further
	Farthest or furthest

	Good
	Better
	Best

	Well
	Better
	Best

	Many 
	More
	Most

	Much
	More
	most


SPECIAL PROBLEMS IN USING MODIFIERS: Use good to modify a noun or a pronoun in most cases. Use well to modify a verb. 

EXAMPLES:
The weather was good on the day of the match. 



Both teams played well. 

*Use adjectives, not adverbs, after linking verbs. Linking verbs are often followed by predicate adjectives modifying the subject. 

EXAMPLE:
Ingrid looked sleepy this morning. 

*Avoid using double comparisons. A double comparison is the incorrect use of both –er and more (or less) or –est and most (or least) to form a comparison. When you make a comparison, use only one form, not both. 

INCORRECT: 
This is Kathleen’s most finest performance. 




This is Kathleen’s finest performance. 

*Avoid using double negatives. A double negative is the use of two or more negative words to express one negative idea. Most of the negative words in the chart below are adjectives or adverbs. 

	Barely
	Never
	None
	Nothing

	Hardly
	No
	No one
	Nowhere

	Neither
	Nobody
	Not (-n’t)
	scarcely


INCORRECT: 
We couldn’t hardly move in the subway. 

CORRECT:

We could hardly move in the subway.

PLACEMENT OF MODIFIERS: Place modifying words, phrases, and clauses as close as possible to the words they modify. Notice how the meaning of the following sentence changes when the position of the phrase from Cincinnati changes. 

The basketball player from Cincinnati gave a TV interview for his fans. 

The basketball player gave a TV interview for his fans from Cincinnati. 

From Cincinnati the basketball player gave a TV interview for his fans. 

A modifier that seems to modify the wrong word in a sentence is called a misplaced modifier. A modifier that does not clearly modify another word in a sentence is called a dangling modifier. 

MISPLACED:

Ringing, everyone glared at the man with the cell phone. 

CORRECT:

Everyone glared at the man with the ringing cell phone. 

DANGLING:

Before moving to Philadelphia, Mexico city was their home. 

CORRECT:

Before moving to Philadelphia, they lived in Mexico City. 

PREPOSITIONAL PHRASES: A prepositional phrase used as an adjective generally should be placed directly after the word it modifies. 

MISPLACED: 
The hat belongs to that girl with the feathers. 

CLEAR:

The hat with the feathers belongs to that girl. 

*A prepositional phrase used as an adverb should be placed near the word it modifies. 

MISPLACED:

She read that a new restaurant had opened in today’s newspaper. 

CLEAR:

She read in today’s newspaper that a new restaurant had opened. 

*Avoid placing a prepositional phrase so that it seems to modify either of two words. Place the phrase so that it clearly modifies the word you intend it to modify. 

MISPLACED:

Manuel said in the afternoon he would call Janet. 

CLEAR:

Manuel said he would call Janet in the afternoon. 

PARTICIPIAL PHRASES: A participial phrase is used as an adjective to modify a noun or pronoun. Like a prepositional phrase, a participial phrase should be placed as close as possible to the word it modifies. 

EXAMPLES: 

Walking to the school, Celia and James found a wallet. 

*A participial phrase that is not placed near the noun or pronoun that it modifies is a misplaced modifier. 

MISPLACED:

Stolen from the media center, the deputies found the videocassette 

recorder. 

CLEAR: 

The deputies found the videocassette recorder stolen from the 

media center. 

*A participial phrase that does not clearly and logically modify a word in the sentence is a dangling modifier. 

DANGLING:

Cleaning the attic, an old trunk was found. 

CLEAR:

Cleaning the attic, we found an old trunk. 

ADJECTIVE CLAUSES: Like an adjective phrase, an adjective clause should generally be placed directly after the word it modifies. 

MISPLACED:

The Labor Day picnic in the park that we had was fun. 

CLEAR:

The Labor Day picnic that we had in the park was fun. 

A GLOSSARY OF USAGE: These are common errors in usage. 

A/an: Use a before words beginning with a consonant sound. Use an before words beginning with a vowel sound. Keep in mind that the sound, not the actual letter, that a word begins with determines whether a or an should be used. 

EXAMPLES: 

I bought a one-way ticket. 




I would like an orange. 

Accept/except: Accept is a verb; it means “to receive.” Except may be used as either a verb or a preposition. As a verb, it means “to leave out.” As a preposition, except means “excluding.” 

EXAMPLE:

Ann accepted the gift. 




All my friends will be there except Jorge. 

Ain’t: Do not use this word in standard English. 

All right: All right should always be written as two words. Never write “alright.”

A lot: should always be written as two words. Never write “a lot.”

Already/all ready: Already means “previously.” All ready means “completely prepared.”

EXAMPLES:

By 5:00 P.M., I had already cooked dinner. 




The students were all ready for the field trip. 

Anyways/Anywheres/everywheres/nowheres/somewheres: None of these words should ever has an “s” on the end. 

At: Do not use at after where. 

EXAMPLES:

INCORRECT: Where are the Persian miniatures at?




CORRECT:
Where are the Persian miniatures?

Bad/badly: Bad is an adjective. It modifies nouns and pronouns. Badly is an adverb. It modifies verbs, adjectives, and adverbs. 

EXAMPLES:

The fruit is bad. [The predicate adjective bad modifies fruit.]

Don’t treat him badly. [The adverb badly modifies the verb Do treat.]

Between/among: Use between when referring to two items at a time, even when they are a part of a group consisting of more than two. Use among when referring to a group rather than to separate individuals. 

EXAMPLES:

Who was standing between you and Sue?




We divided the burritos among the five of us. 

Bring/take: Bring means “to come carrying something.” Take means “to go carrying something.” 

EXAMPLES:

Please bring that chair here.




Now take this one over there. 

Can’t hardly/can’t scarcely: These phrases are double negatives and should never be used. 

Could of: This is incorrect. This should always be “could have.”

Fewer/less: Fewer is used with plural words. Less is used with singular words. Fewer tells “how many”; less tells “how much.”

EXAMPLES:

We had expected fewer guests. 




Please use less salt. 

Good/well: Good is an adjective. Do not use good to modify a verb; use well, which can be used as an adverb. 

INCORRECT:

The steel-drum band played good. 

CORRECT:

The steel-drum band played well. 

Hisself/theirself/theirselves: These are not correct. Use himself and themselves. 

How come: Do not use this construction in standard English. Use why.

Its/it’s: Its is a personal pronoun in the possessive case. It’s is a contraction of it is or it has. 

EXAMPLES:

The kitten likes its new home. 




It’s been a long day. 

Kind/sort/type: The words this, that, these, and those should agree in number with the words kind, sort, and type. This and that are singular. These and those are plural. 

EXAMPLES:

That kind of watch is expensive. 




Those kinds of jokes are silly. 

Kind of/sort of: Do not use these phrases in standard English. Use somewhat or rather instead. 

Like, as if, as though: 
In standard English, like should not be used for the subordinating conjunction as if or as though. 

EXAMPLES:

The Swedish limpa bread looks as if [not like] it is ready. 




The car looks as though [not like] it needs to be washed. 

Might of/must of: These phrases are not correct. Use “might have” and “must have.”

Of: Do not use of with prepositions such as inside, off, and outside. 

EXAMPLES:

We waited outside [not outside of] the theater for the opening. 




The glass fell off [not off of] the table. 




Only Muslims are allowed inside [not inside of] Mecca. 

Some/somewhat: Do not use some for the adverb somewhat. 

INCORRECT:

I like classical music some. 

CORRECT:

I like classical music somewhat. 

Then/than:

Than is a subordinating conjunction often used comparisons. Then is an adverb meaning “next” or “after that.”

EXAMPLES:

I sing better than that. 




We’ll eat first, and then we’ll ride out bikes. 

Their/there/they’re: 
Their is the possessive form of they. There is used to mean “at that place” or to begin a sentence. They’re is a contraction of they are. 

EXAMPLES:

Do you have their CDs?




The lake is over there. 




They’re writing a report on the poet Americo Paredes. 

Try and: This is incorrect. You should say “try to.”

INCORRECT:

I will try and be there early. 

CORRECT:

I will try to be there early. 

Use to/used to:

Do not write “use to.” Always write “used to.” The same goes for “supposed to.” 

EXAMPLES:

Gail used to be on the softball team. 




You are supposed to go home now. 

Way/ways: When referring to distance, use “way,” not “ways.”

When/where: Do not use when or where to start a definition. 

INCORRECT: 
A homophone is when a word sounds like another word but has a different meaning and spelling. 

CORRECT:
A homophone is a word that sounds like another word but has a different meaning and spelling. 

Who, which, that: The relative pronoun who refers to people only. Which refers to things only. That refers to either people of things. 

Whose/who’s: Whose is used as the possessive form of who and as an interrogative pronoun. Who’s is a contraction of who is or who has. 

EXAMPLES:

Whose books is this?




Who’s the new student?




Who’s read “A Walk to the Jetty”?

Would of: This is wrong. Use “would have.”

Your/you’re: Your is the possessive form of you. You’re is the contraction of you are. 

